ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

AUG 12 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

Certiorari to Richland County

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

BRENDA GAIL CUTRO,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-212782

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

Introduction

Gail Cutro's case is now before this Court for the third time. The essential question now before the Court is the same as presented the first time, but not correctly presented the second: Could Gail Cutro receive a fair trial if the jury heard about all three children?

The Court now has the opportunity to explain a mystery in this State's jurisprudence: the seemingly opposite results in Cutro I and Cutro II. As this Court is well aware, this case concerns the deaths of two infants in Gail and Josh Cutro's daycare and crippling injuries to a third infant. In Cutro I, this Court ruled that evidence regarding the other two children was inadmissible in her trial for the death of one child. Seven years later, this Court reached the opposite result: all three cases could be joined together.

The answer to why this Court reached a different result in Cutro II lies in a bedrock principle of appellate jurisprudence: this Court is limited to addressing the issues raised by appellate lawyers. It can only decide the case or controversy before it. Appellate counsel in Cutro II failed to give this Court the opportunity to reach the same issue on which it reversed in Cutro I. The failure of appellate counsel to correctly raise the issue of joinder explains the starkly different results in the two decisions. In both cases, this Court answered the questions asked by appellate counsel. Had

appellate counsel asked the right question in Cutro II, this Court would have given the correct answer—that joinder was improper.

The State and Defense Theories at Trial

The State had two major hurdles to overcome in its three prosecutions³ of Gail Cutro. First, the State had to prove a crime had been committed. It was necessary for the State to retain out-of-state expert witnesses to refute the testimony of the in-state pathologists who performed the initial autopsies. The original pathologists concluded the infants died of Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (“SIDS”). Second, the State had to prove that if a crime was committed, Gail Cutro (and not her husband, Josh Cutro) was the perpetrator. This Court reviewed the evidence with respect to each child in Cutro I. Cutro I at 103-06, 504 S.E.2d at 325-27. This Court concluded “the evidence is insufficient to establish that appellant was the actor in [Child 1’s] death or [Child 2’s] injuries.” Cutro I at 104, 504 S.E.2d at 325-26. This Court noted that Josh Cutro and Child 2’s mother⁴ could not be excluded from being the perpetrator of Child 2’s injuries, nor Josh Cutro from Child 1’s death. Id. at 105-06, 504 S.E.2d at 326-27.

It is clear from a review of the State’s scant evidence that the State’s real hope was that no one would believe that two children would die and a third would be injured in the same daycare by accident. It sounds incredibly unlikely. But how a situation sounds and what the evidence actually

³ After the reversal of Cutro I, the second trial resulted in a hung jury. In the State’s statement of the case in its return to the petition for certiorari, it mistakenly tabulates the vote as 11-1 for conviction in this trial. In fact, the vote was 11-1 in favor of acquittal on one charge and 9-3 on the other. App. 172, l. 24 – 173, l. 3. Cutro II actually stems from her **third** trial in which she was acquitted of all charges related to Child 2 and acquitted of murder as to Child 1 and Child 3.

⁴ According to third-chair trial counsel April Sampson, who is now employed as a solicitor in the office that prosecuted Cutro, DSS determined that the mother shook Child 2. App. 4719, l. 11 – 4720, l. 5.

shows frequently differ. To understand the prejudice from joinder, a review of the medical testimony is necessary.

Child 1's Original Autopsy

Dr. Beverly Daniel ("Daniel"), a board-certified pathologist, performed the original autopsy of Child 1 on January 5, 1993. App. 943, ll. 5 – 12. App. 948, ll. 19 – 21. She followed standard procedures when she examined the head. App. 948, ll. 19 – 21. This meant she cut the scalp and pulled it from the skull, sawed off the top of the skull, and completely removed the brain from the head. App. 946, ll. 3 – 13. App. 958, ll. 3 – 23. To remove the brain, Dr. Daniel used a knife to cut through the spinal cord and the vessels at its base. App. 959, l. 21 – 960, l. 15. Dr. Daniel then sliced the brain "like you would section a loaf of bread." App. 960, ll. 11 – 20.

Dr. Daniel found no evidence Child 1 had been shaken. App. 1023, ll. 12 – 13. The only abnormalities Dr. Daniel noted in Child 1's brain were "some little red dots that I thought were unusual." App. 962, ll. 9 – 15. She described these as "very small petechial hemorrhages" deep in the brain's cortical section. App. 962, ll. 9 – 15. Dr. Daniel described a hemorrhage as "blood outside the vessel" and "petechial" as "a very tiny hemorrhage, pinpoint." App. 955, ll. 21 – 25. On cross-examination, Dr. Daniel was asked what the petechial hemorrhages were "diagnostic of." App. 1003, ll. 4 – 8. She replied that "maybe" they could be diagnostic of "very minor head trauma," or they could just be "coincidental" and not "diagnostic of anything." App. 1003, ll. 4 – 8. She added, "I did not feel certain that they were diagnostic of anything." App. 1003, ll. 4 – 8.

Dr. Daniel originally believed pneumonia was the cause of Child 1's death because of inflamed tissues she found in his lungs. App. 965, l. 18 – 966, l. 15. The lung culture was positive for staph. App. 1009, ll. 5 – 12. She consulted with other pathologists at Lexington Hospital. App.

1009, ll. 13 – 15. Two of the doctors agreed the inflammation in the lung was significant and supported listing bronchopneumonia as the cause of death. App. 1009, l. 16 – 1012, l. 15.

She then sent slides of Child 1's lungs to a doctor in Florida because Child 1's parents said he was not congested. App. 966, l. 13 – 968, l. 13. The Florida doctor's opinion was that the degree of inflammation was not necessarily abnormal in a child of that age and was not enough to be listed as a cause of death. App. 968, l. 14 – 969, l. 3. She admitted, however, that Child 1 had a history of congestion. App. 1004, ll. 20 – 22.

Based on the Florida doctor's opinion, Dr. Daniel then changed the cause of death to SIDS. App. 970, ll. 13 – 18. The State asked whether an infant could be smothered and show no signs of trauma at an autopsy. App. 986, l. 8 – 993, l. 4. Dr. Daniel agreed that it took very little force to smother an infant and that it was impossible to differentiate between smothering and SIDS at an autopsy. App. 986, l. 8 – 993, l. 4. This meant that in any SIDS death, no evidence would exist to exclude smothering as the cause of death. App. 986, l. 8 – 993, l. 4.

Child 3's Original Autopsy

Dr. James Reynolds ("Reynolds") was the director of pathology at Richland Memorial Hospital. App. 1077, l. 17 – 1078, l. 3. Dr. Reynolds was board certified in anatomic and clinical pathology and had been performing forensic autopsies for Richland County since 1979. App. 1078, l. 18 – 1079, l. 4. Dr. Reynolds performed the original autopsy on Child 3 on September 10, 1993. App. 1080, ll. 18 – 24.

Dr. Reynolds found "no evidence of trauma or any other unusual circumstances." App. 1082, ll. 14 – 15. Dr. Reynolds opened Child 3's skull, removed the brain, and sectioned it with a knife. App. 1084, ll. 3 – 9. With respect to the brain, Dr. Reynolds again stated he "observed

no evidence of abnormality nor trauma.” App. 1085, ll. 15 – 19. Dr. Reynolds observed no hemorrhage on Child 3’s brain. App. 1090, ll. 19 – 21.

Dr. Reynolds did find “limited petechial hemorrhages” in the frontal regions of the brain. App. 1099, ll. 2 – 7. He also found petechial hemorrhages in Child’s 3’s thymus which is “a classic finding” in a SIDS case. App. 1101, ll. 3 – 13. He also found petechial hemorrhages in Child 3’s lungs and the lining of the heart. App. 1101, l. 8 – 1182, l. 4. Finding these hemorrhages above the diaphragm “is classical for hypoxemic death, a presumed mechanism – one of many presumed mechanisms involved with Sudden Infant Death Syndrome.” App. 1105, ll. 5 – 23. Dr. Reynolds agreed that a pathologist cannot tell the difference between SIDS and what he called a “soft suffocation.” App. 1107, ll. 16 – 23. However, in some suffocation cases, the frenulum will be torn or there will be some bruising “of the nasal A-line.” App. 1114, ll. 6 – 18. Dr. Reynolds found no such evidence. App. 1114, ll. 6 – 18. He found no petechial hemorrhages in the eyes, which can be a sign of suffocation. App. 1115, ll. 1 – 13. There was “[n]o doubt whatsoever” in Dr. Reynolds’ mind that Child 3 did not die from brain trauma or violent shaking. App. 1109, l. 20 – 1110, l. 11. Dr. Reynolds classified Child 3’s cause of death as “undetermined, presumed Sudden Infant Death Syndrome.” App. 1121, l. 25 – 1122, l. 2. The petechial hemorrhages he found were “diagnostic of nothing.” App. 1122, ll. 3 – 6.

Dr. Reynolds referenced SIDS research by the same Florida doctor who consulted with Dr. Daniel on Child 1’s autopsy. App. 1122, l. 7 – 1125, l. 24. According to the doctor’s research, petechial hemorrhages occur in 16-17% of SIDS cases and 17% of non-SIDS cases. App. 1122, l. 7 – 1125, l. 24. Relying on this work, Dr. Reynolds explained that petechial hemorrhages “may not be as significant as one might anticipate” and could be simply the result of the process of dying. App. 1122, l. 7 – 1125, l. 24. Dr. Reynolds was not aware of any

scientific literature that said if petechial hemorrhages were found in the brain, it could not be classified as a SIDS death. App. 1126, ll. 1 – 7.

Dr. Reynolds had no doubt Child 3 had no hemorrhage on the brain or a subdural hematoma. App. 1093 ll. 6 – 1094, l. 25. Dr. Reynolds said, “I didn’t see it, nor did anyone that I showed it to.” Appendix 1094, ll. 3 – 6. Dr. Reynolds showed Child 3’s brain and the inside of the skull to the assistant coroner at the autopsy and he did not see any hemorrhages or subdural hematoma. App. 1116, l. 14 – 1117, l. 5. On cross-examination, Dr. Reynolds agreed that medical students or even someone not trained in medicine could spot a subdural hematoma. App. 1120, l. 19 – 1121, l. 2.

The Autopsies After Exhumation

In May 1994, SLED called Dr. Gilbert-Barness (“Barness”) to consult on the Cutro case. App. 1578, l. 22 – 1579, l. 1. Dr. Barness was originally from Australia. App. 1574, ll. 1 – 2. She worked as a pathologist and professor at the University of South Florida. App. 1570, ll. 20 – 24. She initially reviewed the autopsy reports of Dr. Daniel and Dr. Reynolds, the tissue samples from the autopsy, and their conclusion that SIDS was the cause of death. App. 1585, l. 25 – 1586, l. 3. Dr. Barness testified, “I didn’t accept that diagnosis.” App. 1586, ll. 4 – 8.

In July 1994—**nineteen months** after the original autopsy of Child 1 and **ten months** after the autopsy of Child 3—the State exhumed their bodies so Dr. Barness could examine them. App. 1586, ll. 19 – 25. Both had been embalmed. App. 1587, ll. 6 – 13. The bodies were taken to her laboratory in Florida during the heat of summer by SLED agents. App. 1591, ll. 17 – 23. The bodies had “a lot of mold” on them. App. 1592, ll. 3 – 8. The eyes “were so decomposed and shriveled up that” they could not be adequately examined. App. 1592, ll. 13 –

21. She looked in both cranial vaults, but of course the brains had been removed. App. 1592, l. 22 – 1593, l. 1.

Despite the condition of the bodies and the lack of brains, Dr. Barness claimed she found evidence of subdural hematomas in both Child 1 and Child 3's skulls. App. 1594, l. 21 – 1595, l. 6. App. 1596, l. 21 – 1597, l. 12. At the suggestion of a professor from England, she used a "special stain" on the dura that led her to believe "absolutely 100 percent" that these subdural hematomas occurred before death. App. 1601, ll. 1 – 23. She testified that shaking a baby can produce petechial hemorrhages and subdural hematomas and that both children died as a result of being shaken. App. 1603, ll. 2 – 13. App. 1624, l. 13 – 1625, l. 10. Dr. Barness believed that Dr. Daniel and Dr. Reynolds missed the subdural hematomas because they did not strip the dura from the skull. App. 1614, ll. 4 – 17. However, she was forced to admit on cross-examination that, by definition, a subdural hematoma would be on the side of the skull cap that would be seen once the skull cap was removed and **not** the side of the dura that would be seen by stripping it. App. 1660, l. 22 – 1661, l. 11. She admitted "you can see it without stripping it." App. 1661, ll. 2 – 11. She also admitted that she found no axonal injuries in the slides of their brains which would be consistent with the children having been shaken. App. 1663, l. 9 – 1665, l. 1.

Dr. Janice Ophoven ("Ophoven"), a pathologist in private practice in Minnesota with "The Crackleberry Group," reviewed the work of Dr. Barness and agreed with her findings. App. 1179, l. 17 – 1180, l. 3. App. 1237, ll. 8 – 22. Dr. Ophoven also claimed that without a traumatic event, there would be no petechial hemorrhages in the children's brains. App. 1236, ll. 11 – 16. She testified that Child 1 and Child 3 died as a result of being shaken. App. 1248, l. 14 – 1251, l. 16. Dr. Ophoven was very critical of the original pathologists for not removing the eyes and looking for hemorrhages. App. 1196, l. 18 – 1199, l. 21. She testified that the eyes are

a “very important location for hemorrhage, that some people believe is diagnostic of shaken baby.” App. 1199, ll. 4 – 9.⁵

Dr. Daniel violently disagreed with the prosecution’s hired out-of-state experts and was adamant that no subdural hematoma existed on Child 1’s brain. App. 999, ll. 16 – 23. App. 1001, ll. 1 – 14. Dr. Daniel said a subdural hematoma is “very hard to miss.” App. 999, ll. 21 – 23. A pathologist does not need to strip the dura from the brain to see a subdural hematoma. App. 1018, l. 13 – 1019, l. 13. When asked if there was any question in her mind that no subdural hematoma existed on Child 1’s brain, she testified, “No. There is no question.” App. 1001, ll. 4 – 9. Dr. Daniel testified that while sectioning a brain with a knife does not create petechial hemorrhages, it can create artifacts. App. 1015, ll. 12 – 16. An “artifact” is something that happens as a result of the cutting process during an autopsy and not a true hemorrhage into the tissue during life. App. 3693, l. 19 – 3694, l. 4.

⁵ Dr. Ophoven apparently has had a change of heart about shaken baby syndrome. In State v. Kozisek, 961 N.W.2d 465, 471-72 (Neb. Ct. App. 2015), the court quoted Dr. Ophoven (who was testifying for the defense in a child abuse case), as opining “that no matter how hard or how long you shake a baby, the amount of force that can be generated is insufficient to cause the brain injury and retinal hemorrhaging that is so commonly seen in abused children.” The court also stated that “according to Dr. Ophoven, ‘the scientific basis for the original theory has now become controversial.’” Id. See also State v. Fisher, 805 N.W.2d 571, 575 (S.D. 2011) (“Fisher’s expert, a forensic pathologist named Dr. Janice Ophoven, offered a different opinion. Dr. Ophoven testified that shaking alone could not have caused P.V.’s injury and that the scientific community has questioned whether shaking alone can cause abusive head trauma.”); United States v. Red Bird, 450 F.3d 789, 791-92 (8th Cir. 2006) (noting in shaken baby syndrome prosecution where original pathologist testified to existence of subdural hematomas and retinal hemorrhages, Dr. Ophoven testified for the defense that “in her opinion, a child of J.B.’s age cannot suffer traumatic brain injury serious enough to develop symptoms and die by virtue of shaking alone, and that there must be evidence of impact.”)

Dr. Reynolds also violently disagreed with the finding of Dr. Barness and Dr. Ophoven. App. 1093, ll. 6 – 1094, l. 25. He believed that what Dr. Barness saw was a postmortem artifact. App. 1094, ll. 7 – 25. After hearing about Dr. Barness’s findings, Dr. Reynolds conducted an experiment with other duras and found that a subdural hematoma could be simulated. App. 1095, ll. 6 – ll. 6 – 1096, l. 18. Dr. Reynolds stated his “strong opinion” that “what happened was subsequent to autopsy.” App. 1096, ll. 3 – 18. He had performed over 1500 infant autopsies. App. 1127, ll. 9 – 10. Pediatric pathologists are not better trained to spot subdural hematomas than other pathologists. App. 1127, ll. 5 – 8. Dr. Reynolds was asked:

Q. Who is in a better position to determine whether or not there was a subdural hematoma present at autopsy—something that looks like this, either on the surface of the brain or inside the skull cap: a pathologist who performs the autopsy **or a pathologist who does the re-autopsy after exhumation 10 months later?**

A. **I think obviously the person who does it first.**

Q. What if the other pathologist claims to be specializing in pediatrics?

A. I think that’s irrelevant.

App. 1127, ll. 14 – 23 (emphasis added).

With respect to Dr. Barness’s method of stripping the dura and applying a stain, Dr. Reynolds said that was not a scientifically valid method of discovering a subdural hematoma overlooked at autopsy. App. 1144, ll. 1 – 18. He stated that what she found was a post-mortem artifact. App. 1146, ll. 2 – 3. Dr. Reynolds stated that standard medical textbooks explain that post-mortem artifacts can be misunderstood as subdural hematomas. App. 1146, l. 4 – 1147, l. 14. Using photographs he took during his autopsy, he explained how what Dr. Barness found

was likely the result of blood settling on the dura after the autopsy and causing a stain.⁶ App. 1148, l. 10 – 1154, l. 7.

When asked whether he would factor in a person’s attention-seeking behavior who had access to a child, Dr. Reynolds succinctly replied, “No. I just describe my findings at autopsy.” App. 1157, ll. 14 – 22. He stated he was “not qualified” to diagnose whether a person was engaging in attention-seeking behavior because that was “a psychiatric term.” App. 1157, l. 23 – 1158, l. 2.

Dr. Barness had published several articles on SIDS and was an advocate of doing away with the term, “SIDS.” App. 1645, l. 24 – 1647, l. 19. She agreed with defense counsel that she was on “a big campaign to try and eliminate that diagnosis.” App. 1648, ll. 2 – 10. Dr. Reynolds also spoke about SIDS and the notion that it is a diagnosis of exclusion when an infant’s death cannot be explained:

Q. As a pathologist, what role does explanation play in your job and the fact that some of these can’t be explained?

A. Well, as a pathologist, both in autopsy, surgical autopsy, or any other disciplines, I’m supposed to render a diagnoses or opinions based on all the information I have at hand. It’s something that’s inherent in the position that I have. I am supposed to render an opinion.

Q. The fact that some things can’t be explained, how does that sit with you?

A. Not well, but God didn’t grant me all that wisdom.

Q. You’re familiar with SIDS, you talked about SIDS?

A. Sure.

⁶ In another Nebraska case, Dr. Ophoven criticized a pathologist who claimed to find subdural hemorrhages. McKinney v. Okoye, 842 N.W.2d 581, 588-589 (Neb. 2014). She testified that the pathologist mistakenly credited post-mortem artifacts as hemorrhages, noting specifically that blood will pool in the skull after the brain is removed. Id.

Q. You understand that some people take the position that SIDS needs to be limited, because we should be able to explain the unexplainable?

A. Some have that opinion.

Q. What is the danger in forensic pathology of forcing an explanation?

A. Missing the truth.

App. 1158, l. 18 – 1159, l. 13 (emphasis added).

Through Dr. Ophoven, the State introduced a map of South Carolina with red and blue dots showing 276 SIDS deaths between 1993 and the trial. App. 1284, l. 10 – 1289, l. 7. Dr. Ophoven reviewed the autopsy reports of these cases and placed a blue dot on the map if the report lacked a notation of petechial hemorrhages in the brains and a red dot if the report did note a petechial hemorrhage. App. 1284, l. 10 – 1289, l. 7. There were 274 blue dots on the map and only 2 red dots—Child 1 and Child 3. App. 1284, l. 10 – 1289, l. 7. The obvious inference from this map was that Child 1 and Child 3’s deaths were not SIDS deaths because of the presence of petechial hemorrhages. The use of this map and its underlying data were the subject of a substantial issue on appeal in Cutro II. Cutro II at 377-78, 618 S.E.2d at 895-96.

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