STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Appeal from Richland County  
Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

DEC 14 2015

**S.C. Supreme Court**

Brenda Gail Cutro,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2012-212782

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
Bar #68571

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
Telephone: (803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

Reid, 964 S.W.2d at 730.

As demonstrated above, expert testimony on MSBP has been allowed in numerous courts and is reliable; it certainly is a subject beyond the knowledge of lay jurors. Further, as shown below, the State's two expert witnesses who discussed the syndrome were well-qualified to provide this testimony.

Dr. Janice Ophoven – a forensic pediatric pathologist whose primary interest over the past thirty years has been in the area of child abuse and neglect, MSBP, and other matters pertaining to the nature of injuries suffered by children – testified that MSBP is “a form of child abuse or injury to children that occurs in the circumstance where the person who is doing it fabricates the story so it's misleading to the people who are caring for the child.” App. p. 1189, lines 8-11. Dr. Ophoven noted this is an accepted diagnosis by the American Medical Association in both the United States and other countries, and she testified she is published on the topic of MSBP as a diagnosis of a pattern of child abuse. App. pp. 1185-1192. Dr. Ophoven noted that the diagnosis is a medical diagnosis, not a psychological diagnosis. App. p. 1300, lines 2-6.

Dr. Ophoven has published books on forensic pediatric pathology which include discussion of MSBP. These writings have been peer reviewed. She has made the diagnosis of MSBP in cases she has worked on herself. App. p. 1190. Dr. Ophoven has presented advanced workshops for law enforcement, pathologists, pediatricians, and nurses on MSBP. App. p. 1190-91. She also developed a list of warning signs at the request of the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI). App. p. 1191. At the time of trial, Dr. Ophoven was qualified in the area of diagnosis of MSBP in various courts a dozen or more times. App. p. 1191.

Dr. Ophoven testified MSBP is “a real entity that has caused serious harm and death to many children.” She further explained the pattern of child abuse is a diagnosis of more than one event which requires looking at the information about the harm to the individual and the history and additional information provided. By virtue of the pattern that is found, she can draw “fairly accurate conclusions about the nature and character of how those injuries took place.” The pattern could include child abuse against only one child over a period of time or it could involve child abuse against multiple children over a period of time. The diagnosis of MSBP “appears to have attached to it” that the abuser has some gain from perpetuating the abuse. Sympathy and attention were the first gains noted in MSBP cases, but other forms of personal gain may also be present. App. pp. 1290-1296. Dr. Ophoven concluded from her review of the materials, the evidence was consistent with a diagnosis of MSBP. App. p. 1300.

Dr. Randell Alexander also testified on MSBP. He testified about his qualifications as follows:

Well, I've published on Munchausen Syndrome by Proxy I think three or four articles. I've written book chapters on Munchausen Syndrome by Proxy. I've lectured at state and national conferences on Munchausen Syndrome by Proxy. I co-chair a national task force on Munchausen Syndrome by Proxy for the American Professional Society on the Abuse of Children. I'm consulted by T.V. networks on Munchausen Syndrome by Proxy, by people from around the country, defense attorneys and prosecutors from around the country on cases.

App. p. 1517, lines 7-16. Dr. Alexander agreed MSBP is a medical diagnosis. After reviewing various materials, he came to the conclusion that the case was consistent with a diagnosis of MSBP. App. pp. 1517-1520.

When being cross-examined, Dr. Alexander noted: "Psychiatrists aren't the only ones that find out about motives, . . ." App. p. 1555, lines 21-24. He elaborated when he disagreed that only a psychiatrist was qualified to render an opinion about psychiatric conditions:

That's not true in all fifty states. Every physician is licensed to make those sorts of diagnoses. And psychiatrists are the ones who specialize and spend most of the time doing that, but in the same way that physicians are all trained in pretty much all the specialties, we make diagnoses that the psychiatrists may say are their diagnoses. And they are also overlapped with other diagnoses that other professionals make as well.

App. p. 1556, lines 5-12.<sup>11</sup>

---

<sup>11</sup> This Court recognized that a physician is qualified to give an expert opinion on a patient's mental and emotional injuries. Creed v. City of Columbia, 310 S.C. 342, 426 S.E.2d 785 (1993) ("The fact that [the physician] is not a specialist goes to the weight of his testimony, not its admissibility."). See also Holbrook v. Lykes Bros. Steamship Co., 80 F.3d 777, 782-83 (3d Cir. 1995) (finding the district court erred in excluding treating physician's expert testimony rendering a diagnosis or discuss the pathology report on the basis that he was not a pathologist, oncologist or expert in "definitive cancer diagnosis" quoting the advisory notes to Rule 703, FRE, which recognizes a treating physician bases

The State was properly allowed to present its evidence of MSBP. The State's theory of the case was that an enormous amount of sympathy and attention was provided to both Suzanne Pope and the parents of Elizabeth Lightfoot, following Elizabeth's 1991 death in the daycare center run by Pope at Cutro's church. Both the parents and Ms. Pope were members of Cutro's church and when Cutro's house was searched by law enforcement, church bulletins concerning the deaths of Child 1, Child 3, and Elizabeth Lightfoot were recovered from Cutro's home. App. p. 2439. In the early spring, 1992, Cutro fabricated a SIDS death in her home for the purpose of gaining sympathy from a parent visiting her daycare.<sup>12</sup> She also fabricated the death of one of her own children.<sup>13</sup>

---

his diagnosis on a variety of sources, and finding district court erred in excluding the testimony because the physician, "did not possess the exact background the court deemed appropriate").

12 Rose Bozard, a member of River Hills Baptist Church, testified she found out in 1992 that Cutro allegedly had a death in her daycare and told Cutro she was sorry for Cutro's loss. Rather than correct her, Cutro said thank you. Bozard recommended Cutro to Renee Barefoot when Barefoot was seeking child care, but did advise Barefoot of the supposed SIDS death in Cutro's home. Bozard found out later no such death occurred in 1992. App. pp. 2350-62. Renee Barefoot testified she was looking for a daycare in 1992, and Bozard recommended Cutro but advised that a SIDS death occurred at the daycare. Barefoot visited Cutro's home as a prospective daycare. Cutro told Barefoot during the visit about the supposed SIDS death in her home, claiming she found the baby dead in the crib. Cutro seemed upset. App. pp. 2374-2379.

13 Suzanne Pope testified she went to the same church as Cutro, the River Hills Baptist Church. Pope testified she received a tremendous outpouring of love and support from the church after the Lightfoot child died of SIDS in her daycare. Pope was contacted by a River Hills pastor shortly after the death of Child 1 to provide support to Cutro. App. pp. 2305-2309. Pope visited Cutro and was surprised to find the daycare still open the day after Child 1's death. She attempted to console Cutro, resulting in the following conversation:

I remember telling her that it was the hardest thing that I had ever been through other than the loss of my own child, that with God's help she would get through it.

And her comment to me was that she understood because she too had lost one, that two of her daughters had been placed on a heart monitor, and that she understood.

Unable to obtain the necessary attention from these fabricated deaths, it is the State's position she began a pattern of direct physical abuse against the infants which began with Child 1 and ended with Child 3's death on September 9, 1993.

The State's fact witnesses provided evidence of Cutro's unusual attention-seeking motive. Child 1's mother, Lindy Colson, testified that after Child 1's death, both Colson and Cutro became involved in SIDS support groups and SIDS related charity events. Colson and Cutro were interviewed about SIDS **on television** together. Colson testified Cutro visited Child 1's gravesite often and put flowers, cards and trinkets on the gravestone. Through Colson, the prosecution entered a story written by Cutro entitled "SIDS, a Babysitter's Story." Colson explained a number of falsehoods in the story. Colson testified Cutro kept Child 1's clothes. She did not know Cutro requested Child 1's autopsy report. App. pp. 2551-2560. Child 1's father, Gary Colson, explained Cutro seemed to intentionally bring attention to herself at the casket at Child 1's funeral. App. p. 2596.

Missy Daniel, Child 3's mother, testified the Cutros' house was across from her mother's house. Daniel and her husband stayed overnight at her mother's the day Child 3 died, and the next day, Cutro came across the street and approached Daniel when

---

App. p. 2310, lines 15-25.

In subsequent conversations, Cutro told Pope that she would go to Child 1's grave and lie on it. She testified she needed to go to the grave and went there **daily**. App. p. 2314, lines 21-24. She admitted she kept some of Child 1's clothes and liked to smell them. She also told Pope she had a place where she kept pictures, clothes, "that type of thing." App. p. 2315, lines 10-13.

When Child 3 died, Pope was summoned once more by River Hills and proceeded to Cutro's to provide comfort. Cutro told her Cutro did not call 911 or perform CPR; she just waited for her husband, Josh, to come home. App. p. 2317. At a meeting with SLED prior to the 1999 trial, Pope was shocked to discover Cutro never had one of her own children die of anything, much less a heart ailment. App. p. 2325.

Daniel was outside. App. pp. 2621-22. Daniel testified Cutro said “she was glad that she could take this burden from me of finding – that she found my child and not me finding her.” App. p. 2622, lines 13-16. Later when Daniel found the nerve to discuss what happened the day Child 3 died, Cutro claimed the baby was making cooing noises with another child in adjoining car seats and got tired; Cutro then laid Child 3 down and Child 3 fell asleep. Daniel knew something was wrong because Child 3 was a colicky baby and never in the child’s four-and-a-half-month life was Daniel able to simply lay the baby down and the baby fall right asleep. App. pp. 2624-25. Davis Daniel, Child 3’s father, also found Cutro’s version suspect because the Daniels could never just put Child 3 down to sleep. They rocked Child 3 for hours or drove Child 3 through the neighborhood: “she had to be moving to go to sleep.” App. pp. 2603-2608 (direct quote, App. p. 2605, lines 20-21).

Daniel testified Cutro told her she visited Child 3’s grave a lot. Cutro also told her she would smell Child 3’s clothes. When Daniel visited Child 3’s grave, she found cards and trinkets left by Cutro. Cutro asked Daniel for a photograph of Child 3, but Daniel did not give her one. Daniel did not know how Cutro acquired the photo of Child 3 she had. Cutro also asked for an item of Child 3’s clothing, and Daniel gave Cutro a piece of clothing she received as a gift. Child 3 never actually wore that piece of clothing. But Cutro told Daniel she would smell it and look for pieces of Child 3’s hair. App. pp. 2629-2631. During a conversation about a week after Daniel sent Cutro the clothing, Cutro asked Daniel, “Don’t you hate when you go to the grocery store and you see other babies and things, and doesn’t it remind you of your daughter and things

like that?” App. p. 2631, lines 21-23. Daniel added that Cutro was the one who would initiate and make comments like that. App. pp. 2631-32.

Cutro later complained to Daniel that “due to the investigations with SLED and D.S.S. and everything that they could not – were not allowed to – they could not properly grieve [Daniel’s] daughter’s death.” App. p. 2632, lines 12-15.

Evidence of MSBP is tied to the evidence of Cutro’s fixation on death and attention-seeking behavior because it provides a medical diagnosis of a pattern of child abuse in which the perpetrator inflicted abuse in order to morbidly obtain a gain in the form of sympathy and attention. By staging deaths to appear to authorities, the children’s families, and church members, as SIDs deaths, Cutro gained the sympathy and attention to satisfy her abnormal needs.

In Reid, the Texas Court of Appeals concluded expert testimony on MSBP was proper, noting the following:

. . . the MSBP testimony was not received for character conformity purposes. Rather, . . . the testimony was necessary to show the basis for the diagnosis of a recognized medical condition, i.e., MSBP, and was directly related to the facts of the case. The relationship between appellant and her children’s apnea episodes were part and parcel of, and were necessary to show, the medical reasons for the diagnosis. The diagnosis and appellant’s connection to it were directly related to the murder charge against her. Thus, the expert testimony did not fall within the ambit of abstract generalities about a character trait that might lead to an inference of guilt, the vice proscribed . . .

964 S.W.2d at 733.

In the instant case, the MSBP testimony was admissible under Whaley and Morgan, and relevant because it tied into evidence of Cutro’s motive to gain sympathy

and attention through the deaths of Child 1 and Child 3. Appellate counsel's performance was not deficient nor was Cutro prejudiced by the failure to raise this issue on appeal because the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing this testimony.

Further, Cutro was not prejudiced by the supposed trial court error. The trial court gave explicit limiting instructions on the purpose of the testimony, instructing the jury prior to Dr. Ophoven's testimony as follows:

Ladies and gentlemen, you are about to hear some testimony about Munchausen Syndrome by Proxy. Now, this testimony is being admitted for a limited reason, which means you can consider this testimony for some things but not for other things.

Now, this testimony is being admitted. And you can consider this testimony, concerning Munchausen Syndrome by Proxy, only for the limited purpose or purposes of assisting you in considering the motive of the defendant if any, the plan of the defendant if any, the absence of illness, mistake, or accident, if any.

You may not consider evidence of Munchausen Syndrome by Proxy, if any, as a substitute for proof that the defendant committed the crime or crimes charged, nor may you consider this testimony as proof that the defendant has a criminal personality, if any, or bad character, if any, only for the limited purposes for whatever weight you think it deserves in considering motive, plan, that absence of mistake, illness, or accident.

App. p. 1289, line 13 – p. 1290, line 6. Jurors are presumed to follow the trial court's instructions. State v. Queen, 264 S.C. 515, 521, 216 S.E.2d 182, 185 (1975). If the jurors followed the trial court's instructions, they only considered the evidence in consideration of Cutro's motive and not for an improper purpose.

Additionally, the record is replete with evidence of Cutro's attention-seeking behavior that ties in with a motive that does not necessarily require a diagnosis to recognize, as depraved and unusual a motive it was. Cutro made up the death of her

own child and the death of a fictitious child, sought attention and exhibited bizarre behavior following Child 1 and Child 3's deaths, and sought to establish herself as a martyr in the aftermath of both their deaths. She also exhibited a strange death-fixation. Evidence of motive is extensive, regardless of the expert testimony discussing MSBP. When other properly admitted testimony reveals essentially the same information, the jury's exposure to improper evidence is harmless. State v. Brown, 344 S.C. 70, 75, 543 S.E.2d 552, 554-555 (2001).

Far more critical was testimony regarding the autopsies and injuries in both of the dead children, particularly the petechial hemorrhages that were revealed in the original autopsies and differentiated these deaths from the entire population of actual SIDS deaths in South Carolina. The jury, by its verdicts, obviously believed the State's evidence that the deaths were not SIDS deaths but the result of child abuse. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial).

## II.

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